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AWASHINGTON, D.C. 2GS

July 17, 2003

o SENSITIVE

TO: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR

e
ROBERT J. COSTA Gt
DEPUTY STAFF DIRECTOR

FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON '
ASSISTANT STAFE/DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION

RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2002 12 DAY PRE-
GENERAL AND 30 DAY POST-GENERAL REPORTS

Attached are the names of the political committees and their treasurers against
which the Commission has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed proposed civil
money penalties calculated at the RTB stage for failure to file or failure to timely file the
2002 12 Day Pre-General and/or 30 Day Post-General Reports. The first group pertains
to the 12 Day Pre-General Report and the second group pertains to the 30 Day Post-

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION SALET e A

General Report. Each group lists committees that have either paid the civil money .

penalty or have failed to pay the civil money penalty. The committees that have not paid
have been given at least forty (40) days from the date of the RTB notification to remit

payment. oo

In accordance with 11 C.F.R. 11134 and 11 C.F.R. 111.40, the Commission shall
send 2 final determination notice 1o those respondents that have either paid or not paid the
civil money penalty.



Recommendation

(1) Maie final determinations that the pohucal committees and their treasurers on the
attached lists violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalties so

indicated.

(2) Send the appropriate letiers.



2002 12 DAY PRE-GENERAL REPORT
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N COMMISSION
e, 5 2485 SENSITIVE

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Friday, July 18, 2003 _12:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Wednesday, Jui 23. 2003 4:00
COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SMITH, THOMAS, TONER, WEINTRAUB

SUBJECT:  Administrative Fines Final Determination Recommendation
For 2002 12 Day Pre-General and 30 Day Post-General Reports.
Memorandum from the Assistant Staff Director, Reports Analysis
Division dated July 17, 2003.

() } approve the recormmendation(s)
() | object to the recommendation(s)
() ! approve the recommendations except those following

to which i object (please insernt AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#}

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

() | am not voting on this tally.

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Piease return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION



BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Final Determination Recommendation For
the 2002 12 Day Pre-General and 30 Day
Post-General Reports.

LAWRENCE R WIESNER FOR CONGRESS
COMMITTEE, and LAWRENCE R WIESNER as
treasurer;

ROB BISHOP FOR CONGRESS, and
CHRISTOPHER LARRY BROWN as treasurer;
FUND FOR A BETTER FUTURE, and STEPHEN
J KAUFMAN ag treasurer;

PRAIRIE LEADERSHIP COMMITTEE, and PAM
TERRELL as treasurer;

3M COMPANY, and Karen K. Martodam as
treasurer:

CABLEVISION SYSTEMS CORPORATION
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and SHEILA
MAHONY as treasurer;

DICKSTEIN SHAPIRO MORIN & OSHINSKY LLP
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE ("DSMO
PACH), and L ANDREW ZAUSNER as
treasurer;

KPAC, and JILL MELLINGER as treasurer;
NATIONAL BANK OF COMMERCE COMMITTEE ON
POLITICAL AFFAIRS, and CHARLES A NEALE
as treasurer;

OFFICE AND PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES
INTERNATIONAL UNION-VOICE OF THE
ELECTORATE, and Wohlforth, Nancy as
treasurer;

PRAIRIE POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE,
and MICHAEL EDWARD DALY as treasurer;
SHEET METAL WORKERS LOCAL 100
POLITICAL: ACTION COMMITTEE (i00 PAC),
and ROBERT A WALTER as treasurer;
UNITED EMP PAC, CENTRAL LOUISIANA
ELECTRIC CO INC, and MELISSA HENRY as
treasurer;

WOMEN'S PRO-ISRAEL NATIONAL POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE ("WIN PAC®), and
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Federal Election Commissicn
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July 24, 2003

JOYCE ULLMAN as treasurer;
MISSISSIPPTI DEMOCRATIC PARTY POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and Seale, Audrey
Mrs. as treasurer;

S C JOHNSON & SON INC POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (SCJPAC), and WILLIAM H VAN
LOPIK ag treasurer;

AMERICAN BAKERS ASSCCIATICON BREAD
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and PAUL C
ABENANTE as treasurer;

AMERICAN SPEECH-LANGUAGE-HEARING
ASSOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and FREDERICK T SPAHR as
treasurer;

BI-COUNTY POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
(FKA SUFFOLK PAC), and IRA LAMEL as
treagurer;

BIG TENT PAC; THE, and MS SYLVIA L
NOLDE as treasurer;

DISTILLED SPIRITS COUNCIL OF THE
UNITED STATES INC POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and MS MICHELE FAMIGLIETTI
as treagurer;

FLORIDA ROCK INDUSTRIES INC GOOD
GOVERNMENT COMMITTEE, and JOHN D
MILTON JR as treasurer;

FLORIDA SUGAR CANE LEAGUE PAC, and
Yancey III, F. D. as treasurer;
INDIANA DENTAL PAC, and RAYMOND M
MADDOX as treasurer;

IUCE LCCAL 542 OPERATING ENGINEERS
POLITICAL ACTION FUND, and ROBERT T
HEENAN as treasurer;

LABORER®'S INTERNATIONAL UNION OF NO
AMERICA LOCAL NO 17 POLITICAL LEAGUE,
and JOSEPH R LIBONATI as treasurer;
NATIONAL PROPANE GAS ASSOCIATION
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
-PROPANEPAC, and Roldan, Richard as
treasurer;
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COMMITTEE, and Drew, Merrill C. as
treasurer;

SUPPORTERS OF ENGINEERS LOCAL 3 ) AF# 957
ENDORSED CANDIDATES (SELEC), and )
GARLAND ROSAURO ag treasurer; )
TECO ENERGY INC EMPLOYEES'®' PAC, and ) AF# 958
Remmers, Chrys A Ms ag treasurer; )
MINNESOTA HOUSE DFL CAUCUS, and Paul ) AF# 961
Rogosheske ag treasurer; )
RHODE ISLAND REPUBLICAN STATE CENTRAL ) AF# 962
)
)
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CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary for the Federal
Election Commission, do hereby certify that on July
24, 2003, the Commission took the following actions
on the Final Determination Recommendation For The
2002 12 Day Pre-General and 30 Day Post-General
Reports in the Administrative Fines Program, as
recommended in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated July 17, 2003, on the following
committees:

AF# 883: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that LAWRENCE R WIESNER FOR
CONGRESS COMMITTEE, and LAWREMNCE R WIESNER as
treasurer, viclated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted

affirmatively for the decisgion.

AF# 891: Decided by a vote of €-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that ROB BISHOP FOR CONGRESS,

and CHRISTOPHER LARRY BROWN as treasurer, vioclated 2

U.S.C. 434 (a) and agsess the civil money penalty so
indicated; {(2) send the appropriate letter.

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
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AF# 900: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that FUND FCR A BETTER FUTURE,
and STEPHEN J KAUFMAN as treasurer, vielated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, MgDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 901: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that PRAIRIE LEADERSHIP

COMMITTEE, and PAM TERRELL as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 904: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that 3M COMPANY, and Karen K.
Martodam as treasurer, violated 2 U.S8.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason.,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 907: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that CABLEVISION SYSTEMS
CORPORATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and SHEILA
MAHONY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
agsess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 909: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that DICKSTEIN SHAPIRO MORIN &
OSHINSKY LLP POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE ("DSMO
PAC"), and I, ANDREW ZAUSNER as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434 (a} and assesa the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Swmith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decisgion.
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AF# 911: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that KPAC, and JILL MELLINGER as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDorald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 912: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that NATIONAL BANK OF COMMERCE
COMMITTEE ON POLITICAL AFFAIRS, and CHARLES A NEALE
ag treasurer, violated 2 U.8.C. 434(a) and assess
the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 914: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that OFFICE AND PROFESSIONAL
EMPLCOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION-VOICE OF THE
ELECTORATE, and Wohlforth, Nancy as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434{(a) and assess the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissiocners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for
the decision.

AF# 917: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that PRAIRIE POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and MICHAEL EDWARD DALY as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S5.C. 434 (a) and assess the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for
the decision.

AF# 922: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that SHEET METAL WORKERS LOCAL
100 POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (100 PAC), and ROBERT
A WALTER as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
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aggegs the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decisiomn.

AF# 924: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that UNITED EMP PAC, CENTRAL
LOUISIANA ELECTRIC CO INC, and MELISSA HENRY asg
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assezss the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 925: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that WOMEN'S PRO-ISRAEL NATIONAL
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE ("WIN PAC"), and JOYCE
ULLMAN as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
gend the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 928: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that MISSISSIPPI DEMOCRATIC
PARTY POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and Seale, Audrey
Mrs. as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and
assesg the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 933: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that S8 C JOBNSON & SON INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (SCJPAC), and WILLIAM H
VAN LOPIK as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDeonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.
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AF# 934: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that AMERICAN BAKERS ASSCCIATION
BREAD POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and PAUL C
ABENANTE as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and
asgess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 936: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that AMERICAN
SPEECH-LANGUAGE-HEARING ASSOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and FREDERICK T SPAHR as treasurer,
viclated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and assesgs the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Themas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for
the decision.

AF# 839: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that BI-COUNTY POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (FKA SUFFOLK PAC), and IRA LAMEL as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the deciszion.

AF# 940: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that BIG TENT PAC;THE, and MS
SYLVIA L NOLDE as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 942: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that DISTILLED SPIRITS COUNCIL

OF THE UNITED STATES INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE,
and MS MICHELE FAMIGLIETTI as treasurer, violated 2
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U.S.C. 434{a} and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.

Conmissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 844: Degcided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that FLORIDA ROCK INDUSTRIES INC
GOCD GOVERNMENT COMMITTEE, and JOHN D MILTON JR as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the
¢ivil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 945: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that FLORIDA SUGAR CANE LEAGUE
PAC, and Yancey IIX, F. D. as treasgsurexr, violated 2
U.S.C. 434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 946: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that INDIANA DENTAL PAC, and
RAYMOND M MADDOX as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434(a) and agsess the civil money penalty =so
indicated:; {2) send the appropriate letter.
Commisgsioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 947: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that JUOE LOCAL 542 OPERATING
ENGINEERS POLITICAL ACTION FUND, and ROBERT T HEENAN
as treasurer, vioclated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess
the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.
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AF# 5945: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a

final determination that LABORER'S INTERNATIONAL
UNION OF NO AMERICA LOCAL NO 17 POLITICAL LEAGUE,
and JOSEPH R LIBONATI as treasurer, violated 2
U.S5.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commisgsioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Tcner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AFf# 952: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that NATIONAL PROPANE GAS
ASSOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE -PROPANEPAC,
and Roldan, Richard as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 957: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that SUPPORTERS OF ENGINEERS
LOCAL 3 ENDORSEDRD CANDIDATES (SELEC), and GARLAND
ROSAURO as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 958: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that TECC ENERGY INC EMPLOYEES®
PAC, and Remmers, Chrys A Ms as treasurer, violated
2 U.8.C. 434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty
g0 indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
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AF# 961: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that MINNESOTA HQUSE DFL CAUCUS,
and Paul Rogosheske as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomasg, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 962: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that RHODE ISLAND REPUBLICAN
STATE CENTRAL COMMITTEE, and Drew, Merrill C. as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:

Mary W.
Secretatry of the CommlBSlcn

%&_@ 2403 %ﬂ/bfﬂ % L QM



THIS IS THE END OF ADMINISTRATIVE FINE CASE

883, 891, 200, 901, 904, 997, 909, 911, 912, 914
917, 922, 924, 925, 928, 333, 534, 936, 939, 940
# 942, 944, 945 946, 947, 949, 952, 957, 958, 961, 962
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